
38 Hill Street

Roswell, Georgia 30075City of Roswell

Meeting Minutes

Mayor and City Council
Mayor Jere Wood

Council Member Nancy Diamond

Council Member Rich Dippolito

Council Member Kent Igleheart

Council Member Jerry Orlans

Council Member Betty Price

Council Member Becky Wynn

7:00 PM City HallMonday, December 12, 2011

WELCOME

Mayor Jere Wood, Council Member Nancy Diamond, Council Member 

Rich Dippolito, Council Member Kent Igleheart, Council Member Jerry 

Orlans, and Council Member Betty Price

Present: 6 - 

Council Member Becky WynnAbsent: 1 - 

Staff Present:  City Administrator Kay Love; Deputy City Administrator Michael 

Fischer; City Attorney David Davidson; Director of Environmental/Public Works 

Director Stu Moring; Transportation Director Steve Acenbrak; Transportation Deputy 

Director David Low; Transportation City Traffic Engineer Muhammad Rauf; Human 

Resources Director Dan Roach; Director of Finance Julia Luke; Director of 

Community Development Alice Wakefield; Planner III Community 

Development/Planning and Zoning Jackie Deibel; Recreation and Parks Director Joe 

Glover; Recreation and Parks Assistant Director Morgan Rodgers; Recreation and 

Parks Special Events Coordinator Bobbie Daniels; Recreation and Parks 

Superintendent, East Katie Troline; Recreation and Parks Superintendent, Athletics 

Jeff Knighton; Economic Development Manager Bill Keir; Planning and Zoning 

Director Brad Townsend; Community Relations Director Julie Brechbill; Police Chief 

Dwayne Orrick; Deputy City Clerk Betsy Branch.

Pledge of Allegiance - Led by Recreation and Parks Director Joe Glover

Page 1City of Roswell



December 12, 2011Mayor and City Council Meeting Minutes

CONSENT AGENDA

1. Approval of November 14, 2011 Mayor and Council Meeting 

Minutes (detailed minutes to replace Council Brief minutes 

adopted on November 28, 2011); Approval of November 28, 

2011 Mayor and Council Meeting Brief.

Administration

Approved

2. Approval of a Resolution accepting Lake Villa Drive as a 

public road.

Transportation

Approved

3. Approval to install a regulatory sign R10-11a (No Turn on 

Red) on Azalea Drive at the Rowing Club parking lot.

Transportation

Approved

Approval of the Consent Agenda

A motion was made by Councilmember Diamond, seconded by Councilmember 

Orlans, to Approve the Consent Agenda. The motion carried by the following 

vote:

In Favor: 5   

REGULAR AGENDA

Mayor's Report

1. Recognition of Fulton Science Academy (FSA) Charter 

Middle School for winning the 2011 Blue Ribbon School of 

Excellence award and the Model United Nations (UN) award 

for the State of Georgia.

Kenan Sener, principal of Fulton Science Academy for the last five years stated this 

award is special because FSA is the only charter school out of 200 in the state of 

Georgia to receive the Blue Ribbon School of Excellence.  He thanked everyone for 

recognizing FSA.  Mayor Wood congratulated FSA for receiving this award.

Page 2City of Roswell



December 12, 2011Mayor and City Council Meeting Minutes

The following item was called out of agenda order.

2. Recognition of the Roswell Recreation, Parks, Historic and 

Cultural Affairs' Booster Clubs and Associations. 

Councilmember Igleheart noted that several months ago the Recreation Commission 

held discussion regarding how everyone involved with all the various department 

programs could be officially recognized for all their hard work.  Councilmember 

Igleheart said representatives from sixteen different support organizations within the 

department were in attendance.  These folks serve as volunteers, fund raisers, 

advisors, friends of the many programs at the facilities and have spent countless 

hours supporting the programs, services, and the facilities they truly love, making 

Roswell one of the best places to live, work, and play.  Councilmember Igleheart 

expressed his appreciation and noted that without them the City would not have 

received this Gold Medal Finalist Award.  The following groups and individuals were 

recognized and awarded a medal:

     •  Boys Gymnastic Booster Club, President Lloyd Book and  staff representative 

Ben Wood

     •  Clay Collective President Herb Smith and staff representative A. J. Argentina

     •  Girls Gymnastic Booster Club Co-Presidents Yolanda Clark and Kathy Prince 

and staff representative Ben Wood

     •  Roswell New Horizons Band representative Sandy Lazio and staff 

representative Mary Rummell

     •  The City Dance President Amy Reynolds and staff representative Shannon 

Childers

     •  Community Tennis Association President Liz Reed and staff representative Matt 

Gillentine

     •  Disk Golf Association President Imran Khan and staff representative Joel St. 

Vrain

     •  Roswell Ramblers President Joyce Boddie and staff representative Mary 

Rummell

     •  Roswell Rapids President Russ Thomas and staff representative Matt Gillentine

     •  Roswell Runners Club President Kathy Bell and staff representative Matt 

Gillentine

     •  Roswell Soccer Club President Helgi Helgason and staff representative Aly 

Wade

     •  Roswell Youth Baseball Association President Jeff Schneider and staff 

representative Jonathan King

     •  Roswell Youth Football and Cheer Association President David Trice and staff 

representative Jeff Knighton

     •  Roswell Youth Lacrosse Association Jennifer Heilmann, Tournament Committee 

and staff representative Jeff Knighton

     •  Friends of Bulloch President Bill Gray and staff representative Morgan Timmis

     •  Friends of Barrington Hall President Stewart Erie and staff representative 

Morgan Timmis

Councilmember Igleheart noted the Lacrosse Association would make a presentation 

the City and invited Jennifer Heilmann, of the Roswell Youth Lacrosse Association to 

the podium.  Ms. Heilmann introduced Jackie Keepers, Dave Heiman, and Tom Pratt 

who have been instrumental in the growth of Lacrosse in Roswell.  She explained 

that the Roswell Youth Lacrosse Association is famous because of its positive 

Page 3City of Roswell



December 12, 2011Mayor and City Council Meeting Minutes

coaching alliance and its efforts with youth sports.  Part of the growth of this program 

has been through the Roswell Youth Lacrosse Invitational, the number one fundraiser 

for the Lacrosse program in Roswell.  The program has also focused on ensuring that 

the kids in Lacrosse have a place to play that is a positive sports experience.  Ms. 

Heilmann, on behalf of the Roswell Youth Lacrosse Association, presented a check 

in the amount of $30,000 to the City of Roswell for the renovation of the Elkins Pointe 

field supporting their vision to provide Roswell youth a place to play Lacrosse. She 

stated this is unprecedented in the United States.  She noted that over a two-year 

period, the Roswell Youth Lacrosse Association has donated a total of $60,000 to the 

City of Roswell in support of the Youth Lacrosse Program.  Joe Glover, Director of 

Recreation, Parks, and Historic and Cultural Affairs, expressed his appreciation to the 

Roswell Youth Lacrosse Association for the excellent job the last four or five years 

with Roswell Youth Lacrosse Invitational.  With fundraising efforts from that 

tournament, they have invested back into the community as other booster clubs have 

done over the years.  This is the first field designated for Lacrosse.

The following item was called out of agenda order.

3. Recognition of the Recreation and Parks Department as a 

finalist for the National Recreation and Parks Association 

(NRPA) Gold Award.

Joe Glover, Director of Roswell Recreation and Parks, Historic and Cultural Affairs 

stated the City of Roswell was recognized as one of the top four agencies and cities 

in the United States by being nominated for the National Recreation and Parks 

Association (NRPA) Gold Award.  A video showcasing the Recreation and Parks and 

Historic and Cultural Affairs Department was shown.  Mr. Glover expressed 

appreciation to the City of Roswell Community Relations Department for the creation 

of this video, which saved the City up to $50,000.  He recognized Amy Kargus, Julie 

Brechbill, and Morgan Timmis for their hard work on the video.  

Councilmember Igleheart said he became the liaison to the Recreation and Parks 

Department two years ago.  He noted that he thought he had a handle on everything 

having visited most of the facilities, met most of the staff, seen all the program 

brochures and attended numerous activities, but over the last two years, he learned 

more than he could ever imagine about all the things going on there.  He said he was 

very impressed by everything that everyone in that department does and thanked 

each of them for all they have given.  He said tonight was a small token of what 

Mayor and Council and the City of Roswell wanted to do for them to show their 

appreciation.  Councilmember Igleheart said Roswell has had the best Recreation 

and Parks program in Georgia numerous times, including this year, but for the first 

time Roswell was recognized on the national level by officially being named one of 

the best in the country.  He said we have talked a lot this year about being one of five 

departments nominated for the National Recreation and Parks Association (NRPA) 

Gold Award, but while at the recent conference, they found out there were only four 

nominations.  The Gold Award is of great significance to all those involved in 

recreation and parks programs around the country.  Councilmember Igleheart said 

because of census count at the time of the application, Roswell was judged in the 

100,000-250,000 population category, a higher category, competing against a repeat 

finalist from Colorado with many stellar programs.  He said that Roswell offers far 

more programs and has much more to offer and officially, Roswell is the runner up 

but he believes Roswell is the city with the best Recreation and Parks program, bar 

none.  

Page 4City of Roswell



December 12, 2011Mayor and City Council Meeting Minutes

Councilmember Igleheart recognized Recreation Commission members in 

attendance and asked them to come forward for presentation of the award.  Those in 

attendance were Acting Chairperson Debra Ewing, Commission members Fred 

Williams, Margie Cooper, Jim Taudte, Tom Pratt, and Steve Stroud.  

Councilmember Igleheart introduced Detrick Stanford, member of the NRPA Board of 

Directors, and Director of Clayton County Parks and Recreation Department.  Mr. 

Detrick Stanford said it was an honor to present the 2011 National Gold Medal 

Finalist Award, representing Excellence in Park and Recreation Management.  

Roswell is second to no other municipality in the state as it relates to parks and 

recreation serving their respective citizens.  He noted that he had called on Joe 

Glover and Morgan Rodgers on many occasions for advice, to ensure his work in 

Clayton County is representative of their citizens, because Roswell gets it right.  He 

expressed appreciation to the Mayor and Council for their commitment to Roswell’s 

Recreation and Parks department because they give other municipalities a standard 

to emulate.  He presented the National Gold Medal Finalist Award to the Recreation 

Commission, the City Council, and Mayor, for their excellent services not just to the 

citizens of Georgia and Roswell, but also being representatives as relates to the 

National Recreation and Parks Association.  Joe Glover accepted the award on 

behalf of the Roswell Recreation and Parks Department.  Mr. Glover thanked Mayor 

and Council, the Recreation Commission, Booster Clubs, and the Recreation and 

Parks Department staff for their commitment.  He noted that next year, the goal is to 

become the Gold Medal Winner.

Mr. Glover noted that with the help of donations from the Marietta Trophy Company, 

and the Fred Williams family, and especially his daughter, individual medals were 

made for everyone involved in this process.  

Councilmember Igleheart expressed his appreciation to the Roswell Recreation 

Commission, staff, volunteers, and everyone involved with earning the NRPA Gold 

Medal Finalist Award.

4. Reading of a Proclamation for Roswell Reads Months in 

Roswell and announcement of the 2012 Roswell Reads book 

selection. 

Mayor Wood stated that once a year in Roswell, a book is selected for the Roswell 

Reads Program.  At the end of the Roswell Reads Months, there is a luncheon with 

the author and in the past, these have been great experiences.  The Mayor noted 

that seven years ago, the first book selected was a true story about a group of boys 

living in West Virginia who got involved in rocketry.  Mayor Wood stated that was the 

first time he had met a character in a book and he was as colorful in person as he 

was in the book.  

Mayor Wood read the proclamation stating: Reading is an activity of great value to all 

citizens of all ages and backgrounds; and students learn and benefit through reading; 

and The Historic and Cultural Affairs Division of the City of Roswell in partnership 

with the Roswell Library, Friends of the Roswell Library, and many community 

volunteers established "Roswell Reads: A City-Wide Reading Program.”  The 

committee selected Crooked Letter, Crooked Letter by Tom Franklin, as the 2012 

Roswell Reads selection.  The months of January, February, and March 2012 are 

Roswell Reads months.  The Mayor asked that all citizens recognize this special 

observance by participating in the Roswell Reads city-wide reading program.

Page 5City of Roswell



December 12, 2011Mayor and City Council Meeting Minutes

Morgan Timmis, Historic and Cultural Affairs Manager said this is a wonderful 

program growing every year. The Roswell Reads committee is comprised of a group 

of volunteers from the Library and the Friends of the Roswell Library and other 

interested citizens.  Janice Tedford, Roswell Reads Committee member, stated the 

2012 book selection is Crooked Letter, Crooked Letter by Tom Franklin, a professor 

at the University of Mississippi who has written several books that resonate the 

southern way of life.  The story is about two boys who grew up together and became 

friends although they were very different.  Twenty years later, they confronted each 

other again to resolve a past that had been buried.  It is an emotional charged 

narrative mystery with a funny spot on sense of the south.  Kelly Frohmer, Roswell 

Reads Committee member, said the committee is excited about the various book 

discussion groups and children’s companion programs that begin mid-February, run 

through mid-March, culminating in the literary luncheon on March 10, 2012.

5. Presentation of the Recreation and Parks Annual Report.

Debra Ewing, Chairperson of the Recreation Commission, presented the 2010-2011 

Recreation and Parks and Historic and Cultural Affairs Department Annual Report.  

Ms. Ewing expressed appreciation to Mayor and Council for their support.  She noted 

that everyone says they moved to Roswell because of this program.  She thanked 

the Booster clubs and said Roswell would not have these recreation programs 

without their support; the Recreation Commission goal this year is to meet with the 

Booster Clubs, get to know them and hear their ideas.  

Ms. Ewing said staff does an incredible job with the Annual Report and this has been 

an exceptional year.  This is the ninth year the department has received the Agency 

of the Year Award from the Georgia Recreation and Parks Association; no other 

parks department has received this award this many times.  Many things have 

happened this year at the Bill Johnson Community Center (CAB) with many 

improvements such as painting, carpeting, alarm system and restrooms.  Katie 

Troline has done an incredible job at East Roswell Park increasing the number of 

participants and activities; the spray pads opened in May with 12,000 visitors; that 

has been an incredible addition to the parks.  The Adult Recreation Center has seen 

an increase in participation.  The Dance Stars performed at Disney World in Orlando.  

The Riverside Park Spray Pad had 40,000 visitors and 10,000 to see the free movies.  

She noted that more parking could certainly be used there.  The building at Azalea 

Park was totally renovated  and  had 15,000 visitors.  A new flag court was donated 

by Roswell Youth Lacrosse Association. Roswell Youth Baseball Association funded 

a new batting cage at the Roswell Area Park.  The first annual chili cook-off at Leita 

Thompson Park raised $1,000 for the Friends of Roswell Parks Play it Forward 

Program that will allow kids of families with financial difficulty to play in our programs.  

The recreation programs have had steady participation.  Ms. Ewing thanked 

Councilmember Igleheart for his guidance and support this year as Council liaison 

and welcomed Councilmember Orlans as liaison when new assignments begin, 

January 2, 2012. 

Mayor Wood thanked Ms. Ewing and said the parks speak for themselves, but it is 

great getting the recognition and confirmation that the Recreation Commission and 

the Recreation and Parks Department are doing a great job.

Page 6City of Roswell



December 12, 2011Mayor and City Council Meeting Minutes

6. Approval of a Cultural Arts Board appointment - George 

Long.

Mayor Wood presented the item and asked for a motion to approve the nomination of 

George Long.

There was no public comment made.  No further discussion.

A motion was made by Councilmember Orlans, seconded by Councilmember 

Igleheart, for Approval of a Cultural Arts Board appointment – George Long.  

The motion carried by the following vote:

In Favor: 5   

Administration and Finance Department - Councilmember Jerry 

Orlans

7. Approval of an amendment to Chapter 3 of the Roswell Code 

of Ordinances to allow ancillary wine and beer tasting and to 

permit a patron to bring an unopened bottle of wine to a 

business licensed for consumption on the premises under 

certain circumstances. 

(Second Reading)

Presented by Michael Fischer, Deputy City Administrator

City Attorney David Davidson conducted the second reading of AN ORDINANCE TO 

AMEND CHAPTER 3 OF THE ROSWELL CODE OF ORDINANCES TO ALLOW 

FOR AN ANCILLARY WINE. BEER AND MALT BEVERAGE TASTING LICENSE 

AND TO ALLOW A PATRON TO BRING WINE TO A BUSINESS LICENSED FOR 

CONSUMPTION ON THE PREMISES UNDER CERTAIN CIRCUMSTANCES 

stating: to accomplish the foregoing, the Mayor and Council of the City of Roswell, 

pursuant to their authority, do hereby adopt the following Ordinance:

                                                            1.

Article 3.5 Business Regulations, of the Roswell Code of Ordinances is hereby 

amended by adding Section 3.5.10 Ancillary Wine, Beer and Malt Beverage Tasting 

License, to read as follows: 

Section 3.5.10  Ancillary Wine, Beer and Malt Beverage Tasting license. 

(a)  The holder of a package beer and wine license shall be eligible for an 

ancillary wine, beer and malt beverage tasting license to provide samples of wine, 

beer and malt beverages offered for sale to customers under the conditions set forth 

in this section. 

(b)  Wine, beer and malt beverage sampling shall be on limited occasions when a 

customer requests a sample of a wine, beer or malt beverage offered for sale within 

the premises, or in conjunction with education classes and sampling designed to 

promote wine, beer and malt beverage appreciation and education. 

(c)  Wine, beer or malt beverage tasting for customers shall be conducted only at 

a counter area constituting no more than ten percent of the entire floor area of the 

premises. 

(d)  Such sampling for customers shall be limited to no more than one time per 

day, on the days of the week authorized by State law to sell beer and wine by the 

Page 7City of Roswell



December 12, 2011Mayor and City Council Meeting Minutes

package, for a period of not to exceed two consecutive hours. Samples shall not 

exceed two ounces, and no customer shall consume more than eight ounces in any 

two-hour period; and 

(e)  The holder of an ancillary wine, beer and malt beverage tasting license may 

conduct educational classes and sampling for classes not more than two times per 

week for a period of not to exceed two consecutive hours.  All conditions of sampling 

set forth in this section shall apply to such classes, except for the limitation on floor 

areas where the classes can be conducted. 

(f)  Wine, beer and malt beverage bottles shall be opened by the licensee or an 

employee only, and samples shall be poured only by the licensee and/or an 

employee. 

(g)  No open containers of wine, beer or malt beverage shall be removed from 

the licensed premises. 

(h)  Holders of an ancillary wine, beer and malt beverage tasting license shall not 

charge for samples or tastings, but may accept donations for a charitable 

organization of their choice. 

(i)  Such sampling and tasting is permitted within the enclosed portion of the 

premises only. 

(j)  The annual fee for an ancillary wine, beer and malt beverage tasting license 

shall be set and may be revised by resolution of the mayor and council. 

                                                            2.

Article 3.5 Business Regulations, Section 3.5.9 On-Premises Consumption 

Unlawful, is amended by  adding thereto the language “except as provided in Section 

3.5.10 of this Chapter”. 

                                                            3.

Article 3.7 Requirements for Consumption On-Premises Licenses, of the Roswell 

Code of Ordinances is amended by deleting Section 3.7.16 in its entirety and 

substituting therefor a new Section 3.7.16 to read as follows:

Section 3.7.16  Brown-Bag, BYOB  to read as follows: 

Except as provided in this Section, it is prohibited for any person to bring in his 

own alcoholic beverage in any retail establishment without regard to whether such 

establishment is licensed to sell alcoholic beverages, provided however, alcohol may 

be furnished at a special event if a valid permit for such event is issued by the City of 

Roswell.  For the purposes of this Section, the term “retail establishment” shall not 

include a private hotel room or similar guest room or a private club.

Notwithstanding any other contrary provision of this Ordinance, any restaurant 

which is licensed to sell wine for consumption on the premises may permit a patron to 

bring into the restaurant one (1) unopened bottle of wine for consumption on the 

premises if the patron purchases a meal and consumes a portion of the bottle of wine 

during the meal on the restaurant's premises.  Should the patron wish to take the 

unfinished portion of the bottle of wine from the premises, such bottle of wine shall be 

resealed in accordance with Section 3.7.15 of this Chapter.  In order for this provision 

to apply, the restaurant must establish a policy for permitting this practice and may in 

its own discretion charge a corkage fee.  Nothing in this Section shall be deemed to 

require a restaurant to establish such a policy.  

                                                            4.

The Ordinance amendment shall become effective on the date of its adoption.

Page 8City of Roswell



December 12, 2011Mayor and City Council Meeting Minutes

Mr. Davidson noted that if approved this would be the second reading.

Mayor Wood said it was his understanding this will allow restaurants to allow their 

patrons to bring in a bottle of wine to have with dinner provided they have a pouring 

license and that it is the discretion of restaurants who have obtained pouring 

licenses.  Mr. Davidson replied that is correct.  Mayor Wood asked if they are allowed 

to charge a fee, if they wish.  Mr. Davidson replied yes, they may charge a corkage 

fee, if they want to.  Mayor Wood asked if it would allow a retail package store that 

holds a package store license, to have a beer or wine tasting.  Mr. Davidson replied 

that is correct.  

Councilmember Orlans said certain places, such as Trader Joe’s who have 

requested this will be able to have wine and beer tasting sessions for educational 

purposes on their premises as long as they have an original license, without charging 

for it, as well as a corkage fee and corkage opportunities.  

There was no public comment.  There was no further discussion by Council.  

Mayor Wood expressed his appreciation for passing this amendment.  The Mayor 

noted that he spoke with a gentleman from Decatur who is moving to Canton Street 

and will have a craft beer premises and that he was very pleased to hear we added 

beer tasting to the list.

A motion was made by Councilmember Orlans, seconded by Councilmember 

Diamond, for Approval of an amendment to Chapter 3 of the Roswell Code of 

Ordinances to allow ancillary wine and beer tasting and to permit a patron to 

bring an unopened bottle of wine to a business licensed for consumption on 

the premises under certain circumstances on Second Reading.  The motion 

carried  by the following vote:

In Favor: 5   

Mayor Wood noted for the record that Councilmember Wynn was absent.

8. Approval of the defeasance of the Series 2002 Bonds and 

Budget Amendment 8000-12-12-11 and Authorization for the 

Mayor and/or City Administrator to sign the necessary 

documents. 

Presented by Julia Luke, Director of Finance

Director of Finance Julia Luke said the Series 2002 Bonds first call date is on 

February 1, 2012.  By depositing $6,665,750 from Debt Service Fund Balance into 

escrow to defease, these bonds the City will realize a net cashflow benefit of 

$501,862.50.  Upon Approval of Budget Amendment 8000-12-12-11, $6,575,000 will 

be available in Cost Center 8000, Account #58110 and $90,750 will be available in 

Cost Center 8000, Account #584000.  Upon approval, the Debt Service Fund will 

have a remaining Fund Balance of $1,519,250.

Mayor Wood clarified that “defeasance” means paying off; the City will be paying off 

early the debt of $6,665,750, which would normally have come due in 2014 and 2015 

and saving the interest.  Ms. Luke said the City will save over a half million dollars in 

interest by doing so.

Page 9City of Roswell



December 12, 2011Mayor and City Council Meeting Minutes

Council Comment:

Councilmember Dippolito asked if this is the entire balance of the bonds outstanding.  

Ms. Luke replied yes, of these bonds, although the City still has another series still 

outstanding without a call date.  Councilmember Dippolito asked what those bonds 

are.  Ms. Luke confirmed that the bonds she was speaking of are the 2008 refunding 

bonds Council approved in 2008.  Councilmember Dippolito asked if this is the 

balance of the ten years old bonds.  Ms. Luke replied these are the 2002 bonds.  

Mayor Wood asked if this is approved by Council and the City pays off $6M worth of 

debt what would be the remaining bonded indebtedness of the City.  Ms. Luke said 

she was not prepared to answer that question; the only bonds remaining are those 

from 2008, which will be able to be paid off in 2014.  

There was no further council discussion.  There was no public comment.

A motion was made by Councilmember Orlans, seconded by Councilmember 

Dippolito, for Approval of the defeasance of the Series 2002 Bonds and Budget 

Amendment 8000-12-12-11 and Authorization for the Mayor and/or City 

Administrator to sign the necessary documents.  The motion carried  by the 

following vote:

In Favor: 5   

Community Development - Councilmember Betty Price

9. PV11-03, Parkway Village Small Tract, 300 East Crossville, 

Land Lot 447, Kevin Attarha.

Presented by Bradford D. Townsend, Planning & Zoning Director

Planning & Zoning Director Bradford D. Townsend said this is a proposed request for 

Parkway Village Small Tract status.  The subject property is 1.94 acre.  The proposal 

is for three office buildings; two of the proposed office buildings are one-story, the 

third office building on the front will include a half basement.  Total square footage for 

the three offices is 13,500 square feet.  The proposal includes the required number of 

parking spaces.  The applicant requests small tract status because it is included in 

the Parkway Village, which has an underlying zoning of R-1 with the Parkway Village 

overlay, which allows them to ask for small tract status.  As required by Section 

12.2.10(a) of the Zoning Ordinance, the applicant has presented a plan for the Mayor 

and Council to review.  Should the Council find that “(i) the tract of land cannot be  

feasibly combined with abutting properties to create a larger tract, or (ii) development 

of the tract of land will result in a better land use if the small tract were combined with 

the abutting property,” the Council may approve development of the proposed plan.  

This application previously was denied by Council on July 12, 2010; subsequent 

applications prior were denied small tract status.  The subject property is currently 

developed with an existing home and storage shed on the rear of the property.  There 

is development to the east and west, and single-family homes to the north; Crossville 

Road is south of the subject property.  Mr. Townsend displayed the proposed draft 

site, indicating the building locations, landscaping, detention areas, and parking.  He 

noted the 150-foot setback from the northern property line, which would be a normal 

requirement under the Parkway Village Large Tract status if it were combined.  Mr. 

Townsend stated the applicant has not sufficiently supplied staff information that this 

parcel cannot be feasibly combined.  Mr. Townsend stated that it is for that reason 

that staff recommends denial of the application.

Council Questions:

Councilmember Price noted that the zoning ordinance had been amended.  She 

Page 10City of Roswell



December 12, 2011Mayor and City Council Meeting Minutes

asked if that basis for denial that Mr. Townsend referred to is only one part that could 

be used.  Ms. Price asked if the applicant could qualify under the “or” section of the 

ordinance.  Mr. Townsend confirmed that there is an “or” section and noted that it 

would be Council’s determination as to whether the land use would be best suited for 

the property.  Councilmember Price asked if he had the wording for that.  Mr. 

Townsend read Section 12.2.10(a) stating: “The tract of land cannot feasibly be 

combined with abutting property to create a larger tract of land, or development of the 

tract as proposed will result in a better land use than if the small tract were combined 

with abutting property.”  Councilmember Price asked if Council determines either of 

those is acceptable, then it is acceptable.  Mr. Townsend replied that is for Council to 

determine.  Councilmember Price said “But if neither is, it would have to be neither, 

would it not?”  Mr. Townsend said he would defer to the City Attorney.  David 

Davidson said, “It is either-or, so if it doesn’t meet either, then it would be cause for 

denial.”  Councilmember Price asked if “either is cause for denial.”  Mr. Davidson 

replied, “No, both.”  Councilmember Price replied, “It would have to be both for 

denial.”  Mr. Davidson replied, “That’s for approval.  Either one of them you could 

approve, for either one of the reasons.  For either one of those two reasons, you 

could approve the small tract status.”    

Councilmember Dippolito inquired about a grading plan to show how this site plan 

would work with the adjoining properties.  Mr. Townsend responded there was no 

grading plan submitted with this application but the site plan indicates detention both 

on the front as well as on the rear of the property.  Mr. Townsend stated that because 

of the way the land is currently developed, it “crowns in the middle” and would slope 

to the back and to the front.  Councilmember Dippolito said we have an indication of 

how stormwater might work but we do not have any indication of how the grades 

would work with the adjoining property.  Mr. Townsend replied, “No.”  Councilmember 

Dippolito inquired where it would go if the detention facilities drain out toward 

Crossville Road.  Mr. Townsend replied it would have to drain to the west because 

the front slopes west.  Councilmember Dippolito asked if that is how it is currently 

permitted, and would it require a pond at the front.  Mr. Townsend replied there would 

have to be some kind of detention and then they would have to deal with the 

adjoining properties as to how it would drain to the west.  Councilmember Dippolito 

asked if that appeared to be feasible.  Mr. Townsend said he would let the applicant 

respond to that.  Councilmember Dippolito noted the tree save areas showed several 

specimen trees and asked about the impact to the critical root zones.  Mr. Townsend 

explained the specimen trees would probably be considered lost; using the standard 

minimum of 25% or more impact to the critical zone of the tree, it is considered lost.  

He added that some of the trees would probably survive because they are impacted 

today by a driveway and are being driven on in those locations but depending on the 

grade changes, those trees probably would be considered lost.  Mr. Townsend 

confirmed for Councilmember Dippolito that the applicant had not submitted a tree 

replacement plan as part of this current plan; but prior applications had tree count 

units they would be required to maintain. 

 

Councilmember Igleheart asked if the detention question had been resolved.  Mr. 

Townsend replied the applicant would need to speak to what efforts he has made 

dealing with detention but there has to be some relationship as to how the water gets 

across the property to the west.  Councilmember Igleheart asked if it needs to be 

resolved before it is approved.  Mr. Townsend deferred the question to the City 

Attorney.  Councilmember Igleheart asked if that is the best practice.  Mr. Davidson 

replied that was for Council to decide.  Councilmember Igleheart said by practice if it 

is not resolved then it causes a problem after the fact, and that is always the case.  

Mr. Davidson responded yes it does.  

Mayor Wood said for somebody to actually go through the engineering for detention 

Page 11City of Roswell



December 12, 2011Mayor and City Council Meeting Minutes

ponds, when the property owner does not know if it is feasible to go forward or not, 

would be burdensome.  The Mayor suggested the possibility that Council could have 

a conditional approval, it that is the only issue, if there are other issues, Council could 

turn it down or approve.  

Councilmember Igleheart asked what would happen if they cannot.  Mayor Wood 

replied they would have to do the engineering for it but there would be a fair expense 

for doing the engineering for detention pond; with an applicant that has not been 

more successful with Council to ask them to go through that expense to find out if 

Council was inclined to grant it, would be burdensome.  Councilmember Igleheart 

asked Mr. Davidson if all the elements in Council packets in terms of prior minutes 

and court decisions were automatically entered into the record.  Mr. Davidson said 

yes, everything that is included in Council’s package for this item.  

Councilmember Orlans noted that staff recommendation is denial based on not being 

able to physically combine the properties after this has been attempted for 

multi-years.  He asked Mr. Townsend to provide background information as to why 

staff came to this recommendation.  Mr. Townsend replied, “With the understanding 

of Council’s denial four or five times that there was a desire by them to have this 

property combined to the three or four properties to the west to create a village. I 

mean we are trying to maintain the Parkway Village criteria assuming things that can 

assemble will be assembled.”  Councilmember Orlans said he understood that and 

asked how long do we make people wait to try and do this and asked if staff has any 

recommendation on that.  Mr. Townsend deferred the question to the legal 

department.  Mr. Davidson said he did not have any recommendation.  

Councilmember Orlans noted that Mr. Townsend stated that the detention would be 

at the back and front so they are indicating retention be at the front; he asked if it was 

correct that nothing had been engineered for it.  Mr. Townsend replied, correct, no 

engineering has been done.  Councilmember Orlans asked if he had any idea as to 

whether it would work or not.  Mr. Townsend replied no.  

There were no further questions for staff.  

Applicant:

Kevin Attarha, stated he had been before Council several times five or six times.  He 

said he has worked on this for several years and the feasibility of combing this 

property has been impossible; neighbors to the east and west have been able to 

perform and use their property rightfully so, he has just been “locked in.”  Mr. Attarha 

stated, “If you approve this tonight it does not stop “somebody from coming along and 

putting this property together. To the west of us a small tract has been granted to that 

property owner and we ask that you do the same for us.”  

Council questions:

Councilmember Dippolito asked Mr. Attarha if the grading had been explored and 

how that would work, as it seemed he was within fifteen feet of the adjacent property 

and there are significant grade differences and it could be difficult to make that work.  

Mr. Attarha said he took the same position as Mayor Wood had stated; they spent 

much money previously submitting detailed plans for landscaping, civil, and grading 

and were denied; should Council approve this application they meet all the 

requirements of the City before a Land Disturbance Permit (LDP) is approved.  Mr. 

Attarha said, “We will accept all the recommendations or conditions that the Council 

puts on the application and we will accept that if we cannot put the detention in the 

front or the grading then there would be no LDP and we could not build on it.”  He 

said the property to the west has an outdoor detention pond inside the City street 

buffer and the City likes to see some type of regional water management.  He asked 

Mr. Townsend to display the site plan on the overhead and indicated the proposed 

Page 12City of Roswell



December 12, 2011Mayor and City Council Meeting Minutes

detention pond.  Mr. Attarha said there is an existing detention pond that is in the 

street buffer that has been granted to Mr. Caldwell’s property.  Mr. Attarha stated, 

“There is nothing to stop us from doing a regional water management.  For water 

management we will have to do a study and will meet with the City planners and with 

the right departments and bring in our engineering crew.  If it doesn’t work, we are not 

going to get an LDP.”  

Councilmember Dippolito said he understood his explanation for the detention but 

was still struggling with the grading; in two dimensions the plan makes sense to 

combine the properties because you could build something similar on either side.  

The problem is Council does not understand how it would work three dimensionally.  

His concern is that there are such grade differentials between the various properties 

that it could not be feasibly combined later.  He said if there was some sort of a 

preliminary grading plan, not necessarily fully engineered, then perhaps it could be 

understood how these properties could be combined.  Mr. Attarha replied, “We have 

done some initial studies and have walked the property and took civil engineers 

there.  On the previous application, we indicated some connection with parking lots 

towards the back and center but the density was so high, Mayor and Council did not 

approve it and the residents did not like it being such a big development in that area.  

It would be burdensome for us.”  Councilmember Dippolito said he was not talking 

about doing a full grading plan just something that would help understand what that 

would look like.  Mr. Attarha said they hired EDT Engineering Design Technologies 

who said it will work.  Mr. Attarha said they will save the trees; the neighbors are 

concerned about the large trees being impacted; he said one of the trees is dead and 

the City has issued a permit to remove that tree.  Councilmember Dippolito asked if 

they have done any tree calculations.  Mr. Attarha said the tree calculations on the 

landscaping is more than what is required; the required landscaping area is 15% and 

we have allowed for 11,000.  Councilmember Dippolito said that is assuming the 

specimen trees survive.  Mr. Attarha responded yes.  He said we believe most of 

them are going to survive; there is an existing driveway by some of the trees with 

cars going over it, but this is a single story building without a foundation and will not 

disturb the land that much and that fifteen feet away from Mr. Caldwell’s property is 

enough to get this buildings erected.  

Councilmember Price referred to Mr. Attarha’s letter to Council dated November 4, 

2011, the second page, the sentence reads, “Applicant has met all criteria set up in 

Article 12, Section 12.2.10 for approval of use of the property as a Small Tract within 

the Parkway Village District.”  She said there is an area of difference there if staff 

indicates that you do not meet some; she asked if that was because he took the 

second “or” or is he claiming he had met everything based on the first item as well.  

Mr. Attarha responded it has been impossible to assemble these properties; it is not 

feasible or possible.  He said they have made several other attempts with the 

property owner, Mr. Caldwell, both east and west, and have offered to purchase.  

Councilmember Dippolito sat in on a meeting at City Hall, and it has just been 

impossible.  Councilmember Price said then you are claiming compliance with 

number one.  Mr. Attarha replied he is in compliance with number one and two, 

simply because the improvement to this property does not stop a future combination.  

He said they are claiming both that we can’t feasibly do it right now with the current 

team members; prior site plans were huge 20,000 square foot buildings and would 

have been economically impossible to combine it.  The improvement we are 

proposing here is probably less than what has already been done to the west of us 

on a small tract by Five Oaks Nursery owned by Mr. Caldwell.  We are claiming both 

that yes it is not feasible right now and again if you allow us to do this, we have not 

economically severely damaged the possibility.  We believe it is still doable should a 

larger developer come along and put these three properties together because 

certainly us and Mr. Caldwell either cannot or do not have the means financially to 

Page 13City of Roswell



December 12, 2011Mayor and City Council Meeting Minutes

put that much money in to putting it together.  We do not take away your “or”; we still 

allow you to combine it.  Councilmember Price inquired about the applicant’s 

compliance with staff report  items A-G.  Mr. Townsend confirmed that the proposed 

site plan would comply with B-G.  

Councilmember Diamond said that in December of 2010, a meeting Mr. Attarha and 

Mr. Caldwell had perhaps scheduled was cancelled at the last minute.  She asked if 

they had discussion since that time.  Mr. Attarha replied, “I believe that was Mr. 

Dippolito’s meeting that we held here and Mr. Caldwell was present with his attorney, 

simply did not happen.  The amount of finances required for us to acquire his 

property was twice what we would take for ours.  We offered to sell ours for “x” 

amount of dollar.   He offered to sell his for twice that amount.  It was impossible to 

work it.  I don’t know if his position has changed since then but no contact has been 

made.  We have been at this literally over five years and I’m not sure even combining 

these; the neighbors have had a lot of problems even with such a small development 

on these lots and I’m not sure what the impact would be then.  We certainly could not 

do it.”  Councilmember Diamond asked what year the applicant purchased the 

property.  Mr. Attarha replied he became a partner in this LLC in 2007, was involved 

since then, and been before Council at least four times.  

Councilmember Price asked Mr. Attarha what had materially changed since the last 

time he submitted a request; and if there were variances requested previously.  Mr. 

Attarha replied, “No we didn’t ask for any variance before.  I believe if the water 

management wasn’t going to work we were going to ask for the same treatment as 

was offered to the property to the west of us, which was put the detention pond in the 

street buffer, which is already in existence today.  Therefore, we didn’t ask for any 

variance.  What has changed, we have simply reduced the amount of development in 

order to satisfy the neighbors in the back.  I believe that Mayor Wood had mentioned 

that on these narrow lots they would like to see 150 foot setbacks and so we came 

back 150 feet leaving enough land to protect the residents  back there and make it a 

smaller footprint so we stay away from the boundaries of each property at least 15 

feet.  For a single story building, our engineers tell us there is not much digging and 

not much land disturbance in order for us to shore it up.  What has changed is, I 

believe, about 12,000 square feet on two-acres; typically you allow 10,000 per acre, 

so we have reduced the amount of square footage for the total property, saved the 

trees and allowed for two and one-half times the amount of landscape.  We have just 

reduced the scale.”  Councilmember Price said in 2007 or 2008, the City arborist and 

landscape architect indicated there were six specimen trees and three might be 

effected and you are saying one is dead; she asked if the configuration of the request 

was significantly different so that would change.  Mr. Attarha replied, “Absolutely, yes.  

On the previous plans, the road was coming straight by the trees and most of them 

were going to be gone.  Right now, we have taken all the roads away to the west and 

we stay away from those trees; we believe they are going to be saved.  Of course the 

arborist would do some studies.”  Councilmember Price said they addressed it but 

offered no comment.  

Councilmember Dippolito said Councilmember Price had said the arborist had not 

commented on the trees but Mr. Townsend had just said staff’s opinion was that all of 

the trees would not survive.  Mr. Townsend clarified that he had met with the City 

arborist today; the arborist determines if the impacted critical root zone exceeds 25%.  

If it exceeds 25%, then the tree is considered a loss; the tree may survive the 

development occurring, but is considered a loss when the calculations are done.  Mr. 

Townsend stated where the buildings, parking lots, and driveways will go, it will 

definitely impact at least 25% of the critical root zones of those trees.  

Councilmember Dippolito confirmed with Mr. Townsend that this was not in the staff 

report because it was discussed in conversation with the arborist today.

Page 14City of Roswell



December 12, 2011Mayor and City Council Meeting Minutes

Public Comment:

Kevin Caldwell, resident and owner of four properties in Roswell, said he has lived in 

Roswell nearly half his life and loves Roswell.  He said last week he “got a renewal of 

that love of Roswell when his house caught on fire” and the Roswell Fire Department 

and neighbors had been very generous.  He said he gave that as background 

because he finds flaw in our zoning ordinances and the reason why we are here for 

the fourth or fifth time.  Mayor and Council have seen this applicant present, and 

even seen him sue the City over presentations with similar concepts; the same 

principles continue to apply to the same site plan.  We keep going through it again 

and again and the City ordinance allows an applicant to come back once a month 

and reapply despite suing the City and losing.  Mr. Caldwell that this is wasting the 

City’s valuable time and assets.  He suggested reviewing  the City’s zoning ordinance 

in regards to this type of situation; there should be some limit to how many times an 

applicant can come back and ask for virtually the same type of thing.  He said 

perhaps the applicant feels he will wear us down until we give up and says it is not 

feasibly assembled.  Mr. Caldwell said the applicant failed to discuss this particular 

plan with him and his wife who own both the adjacent properties; this is the first time 

he has had a chance to address this with Mr. Attarha.  Mr. Caldwell said the extreme 

gradient change of this site and the bordering sites does not provide reasonable 

inter-parcel access.  There are multiple civil engineering issues.  There is inadequate 

piping currently under Highway 92 to handle the increased water volume.  He said he 

found out that the GDOT failed to provide their own plans to be built with a 24” pipe 

going under the road; he had to re-engineer his ponds out front because of the 15” 

pipe that is almost inadequate for what he has.  It is certainly not going to accept any 

other water going through it coming from the front of their property, which would also 

have to cross his property to the east.  He asked why, if water is to cross his 

property, would all this area not be graded, cut and filled to create a better overall 

elevation and cohesive development.  Tree preservation on this site continues to be 

in question.  Mr. Caldwell noted that he is an arborist and an expert in his field.  Every 

one of those trees will die; he clarified that there are six trees currently living there.  

Mr. Caldwell said, “If this development does not work within the intent of the Village 

Parkway zonings, then it should not be allowed.  We shouldn’t be worn down by 

another proposal with things moved around and then if it is approved it will force me 

as the adjacent property owner to perform extreme site work as my site might be 

redeveloped.  That would put an undue burden on any future; not to mention these 

buildings will have a higher elevation as it relates to the neighbor’s properties.  This 

area has a slight incline on it and a slight mounding and is not going to relate to the 

adjacent properties.  I don’t have a problem with the applicant making approved 

improvements to the existing buildings and land forms and I believe the ordinance 

says something to that effect in the Village Parkway.  Although, recently they started 

unapproved renovations to a garage that was stopped by the City because they were 

not permitted and right now, there is construction that is incomplete on the garage 

that was done without the City’s approval.  The applicant has attempted to prove but 

unable to prove that all the adjacent properties cannot be reasonably assembled.”  

Mr. Caldwell asked Council not to improve the plan but to encourage reasonable 

improvements to the existing landforms and buildings.  He asked Council if there is 

actually a need and is the occupancy such that it would demand this kind of 

development in this area at this time.  Mr. Caldwell said that he and his tenants 

currently generate about $5.5-6M dollars in total gross sales with only improving the 

aesthetics of the Roswell Village Parkway and its existing landforms.

Joe Creech, 275 Putting Green Lane, said he is the adjacent residential property 

owner.  Mr. Creech said there is already one piece of property adjacent to him that is 

small tract status.  He indicated an area on the site plan and said there is another 

adjacent to those three spots that is adaptive use.  He asked if it would remain small 

Page 15City of Roswell



December 12, 2011Mayor and City Council Meeting Minutes

tract if it is resold.  Mayor Wood stated that a small tract status, if granted, would 

transfer with the property.  Mr. Creech said then the next property owner may look at 

the 40’ setback and think they don’t have to abide by the 150’ setback that was 

promised with this plan.  Mayor Wood replied that was not correct; the next owner 

would have to comply with the conditions of the small tract status and would have no 

greater or less rights than the applicant.  He said looking at the Parkway Village 

Large Tract, if someone builds a building on that large tract if those properties were 

combined then there would have to be a 150’ setback minimum according to Table 

12.2.2; he asked if they do a small tract it only has to be 40’ and is quite a difference 

and impact on that residential area when that happens if all three of those pieces of 

property only have to be a 40’ setback.  He said he appreciates that there will be a 

150 foot setback provided for in this plan but it is not guaranteed.  He said also in 

Table 12.2.2 there is a phrase that says, “The location of water detention or retention 

areas or utility easements is discouraged in the setback area.”  He said it appears the 

detention plan in this particular proposal is in the setback area or certainly within that 

150’ area.  Mr. Creech said he hoped Council would consider the impact this will 

have on the residential neighborhood behind when taking three pieces of property 

like that out of the Parkway Village requirements and putting them in small tract 

status.

James Hogue, 265 Putting Green Lane, said he resides directly behind the property.  

He noted that the applicant has communicated with him and has been willing to 

change his plan but he is concerned about the 150’ setback and insects that would 

develop in the retention pond that is going to be behind the property where he lives 

with his family, and the elevation of the new building affecting his view when looking 

at that structure from his home.

Applicant Rebuttal:

Kevin Attarha stated that Mr. Caldwell talks about this site being the same.  Mr. 

Attarha said, “How is that possible because we have reduced the amount of square 

footage and allowed for a 150’ setback, which is required under the combination of 

larger tracts.  As far as the water management is concerned, we have repeatedly 

said we are going to address that if we can’t meet and satisfy.  If the neighbors would 

like to put a condition on the approval we certainly accept it, if it is not acceptable to 

them.  Certainly, there is a big process in the City for the Design and Review Board 

who tells us what type of look, what the elevation should be and a single-story 

building 150’ feet away from, especially with our plan to put trees back there would 

make sure Mr. Hogue’s view is protected. We are not proposing to put a detention 

pond in the back.  The site plan says ‘should it be necessary’ and we don’t know that 

tonight.  We are only saying additional water management back there if necessary.  

We are asking for the same consideration that was offered to Mr. Caldwell to have an 

outdoor detention pond on the west.  Mr. Caldwell was granted that and he was able 

to use his property and we ask you to grant us the same.”

Further Council Discussion:

Councilmember Diamond said she wanted to clarify if there was any attempt made of 

discussion between the applicant and the next door properties on this plan.  Mr. 

Attarha said “Simply not.  I have left the plan at his property and whether or not he 

received it he could not speak to that.  The issue of purchasing and combining, I have 

talked with Mr. Caldwell and his indication is that ‘I am not going anywhere, I have my 

business here and I am going to stay here until the larger development happens.’  He 

has also gone as far as saying he doesn’t think I will ever get approval for this 

property.”

Councilmember Igleheart requested clarification on the stormwater issue.  He noted 

that if we make sure a detention not being done does not allow an LDP, then that 

Page 16City of Roswell



December 12, 2011Mayor and City Council Meeting Minutes

may deal with one aspect.  He said the staff comments from the Water Resource 

Engineer reads, “The site plan does not appear to allow adequate space to address 

stormwater requirements for the project.  The PW/ENV department does not support 

the site layout since a stormwater pond is likely not an appropriate solution to the 

stormwater requirements.”  Councilmember Igleheart said if that is all still true it 

would seem it does not matter if you allow a stormwater detention pond in the front, 

from this it says it is not an appropriate solution anyway.  He asked if that was all still 

true.  Mr. Townsend explained that the statement is also true in reference to how they 

want stormwater detention to be handled.  He said the Public Works/Environmental 

engineer is saying there needs to be another method looked at to deal with the 

detention, if it is not a pond.  Councilmember Igleheart said that is still a very big 

concern but we have already been told that is probably not the way, regardless.

Councilmember Dippolito said he also had remaining concerns about the feasibility of 

this project as Councilmember Igleheart has talked about the detention.  In addition, 

the grading on this plan and prior plans and the ability for these plans to actually be 

built in their current form is still questionable.  Councilmember Dippolito said, “In a 

typical rezoning case, Council requires a lot more information and I understand that 

at Parkway Village we are trying to expedite things and make it easier but at some 

point we don’t get enough information and we can’t fully understand the impact.  Mr. 

Creech’s comment about the fact of having three small tracts or potentially four 

adjacent to a residential neighborhood really belies the whole reason for having this 

Parkway Village in the first place.  Rather than having a cohesive project that was the 

goal of Parkway Village and to protect the neighborhoods, we could wind up with a 

scenario where we have very little buffer and we have something very intense and in 

fact is the opposite of the intent of Parkway Village.  There are too many unanswered 

questions at this point.”

Councilmember Price requested clarification by the Legal department as to whether 

the site plan is part of this discussion or if the issues could be separated, such that 

we are discussing the small tract status regardless of the site plan.  She asked for 

legal comment.  Mr. Davidson said, “If you are going under the second criteria you 

have to have the site plan because it has to be the plan.  If you are going under the 

first criteria that it is not feasible to combine, the City has always made a site plan a 

condition of every small tract status since I have been here, which is about eleven 

years.  It doesn’t say there has to be a site plan criteria however, the applicant has 

already said that he did not contact Mr. Caldwell, which is the property owner on both 

sides about combining on this application; he has previously but he didn’t on this 

application.  To me the question comes down to the second part of it which would 

require the site plan.”  

Motion:  Councilmember Price moved to approve the PV11-03, Parkway Village 

Small Tract, 300 East Crossville, Land Lot 447, Kevin Attarha with the site plan as 

presented that accommodates and responds to all staff conditions including a 

stormwater management plan, a 150’ setback, compliance with all recommendations 

of engineering, fire, transportation and DRB.  Councilmember Orlans seconded for 

purposes of discussion.

Councilmember Igleheart asked if the conditions would require a detention area 

approved by the City, in order for issuance of the Land Disturbance Permit.  Mr. 

Davidson explained that the applicant will need the City engineer’s approval for their 

stormwater.  It is not a direct condition.  Councilmember Price incorporated their 

comments but those were not conditions.  If Council wanted to make it a condition 

that they are in compliance, and they will have to be anyway before it gets approval 

for a Land Disturbance Permit, but it is not a condition of this approval.  

Councilmember Igleheart stated he wanted to make sure that is ultimately what 

Page 17City of Roswell



December 12, 2011Mayor and City Council Meeting Minutes

happens.  Mr. Davidson said it would not hurt to put it in there.  Councilmember 

Igleheart asked if that would require a second condition.  Mayor Wood asked if it is 

correct that in order to obtain a Land Disturbance Permit, a detention pond must be 

approved by the City engineer.  Mr. Davidson replied that was correct, but it would 

not be a condition of the small tract status, it would be a condition of developing the 

property.  Councilmember Igleheart asked if that was ultimately the same thing.  

Mayor Wood said it would still be required whether or not it is placed as a condition.  

Councilmember Price said staff comments indicate that it is not that this site plan is 

unworkable but only that it has not gone through the proper discussions; perhaps the 

better course is to defer until those discussions have been had to ensure that this site 

plan is workable.  Councilmember Igleheart responded that was also his concern 

because we are talking about all the stuff that ultimately could force this site plan to 

change in order to make this work, and then where are we versus what you just said.

Councilmember Orlans asked Mr. Davidson if what he had just described is a 

condition of the zoning and if it does not meet the condition, it loses its small tract 

status.  Mr. Davidson explained that if it is a condition of the approval of the small 

tract status and the applicant does not meet the conditions then he does not get the 

small tract status.  Councilmember Orlans replied that was what he thought he 

understood him to say, which may be the better way to do it.

Councilmember Price asked if it would ever come back to Council or would it “all stay 

in the hands of staff.”  Mr. Davidson explained that if the applicant does not meet the 

condition, he would have to come to have that condition removed, if he wants to have 

the small tract status.  Mayor Wood said, “On the other hand, if you pass this with 

that condition and he met that condition, it wouldn’t come back to Council.  You 

suggested two different things; one is a conditional approval and the other is approval 

without a condition and the third is a deferral.  Your motion is to approve, with no 

condition and no deferral, but you also have discussed two other alternatives.”  

Councilmember Price said, “No, the motion had a number of conditions.”  Mayor 

Wood said, “There was no condition for a detention pond.  I think Councilmember 

Orlans was correct in saying you would have small tract status and would have to 

meet the engineering but if you place it as a condition and he didn’t show that, he 

would lose the small tract status altogether.  Councilmember Orlans you are correct, 

it does ultimately have a different disposition.”  Councilmember Price said she would 

like to amend her motion.  Mayor Wood said she could if Councilmember Orlans 

agreed to the amendment.

Amendment to Motion:  Councilmember Price amended the motion requesting the 

submittal of a tree protection plan.  Mayor Wood asked if it had any conditions 

regarding the detention pond because that was the whole discussion.  

Councilmember Price said yes.  Mayor Wood asked that the motion be completely 

re-stated for clarification.

Restated Motion:  Councilmember Price moved to approve the PV11-03, Parkway 

Village Small Tract, 300 East Crossville, Land Lot 447, Kevin Attarha conditional 

upon receipt of a tree protection plan that the arborist has agreed with, that there is a 

stormwater management plan that satisfies Public Works and the City Engineer, that 

there is a permanent 150’ setback and that there is compliance with all 

recommendations of engineering, fire, transportation and the DRB.  Mayor Wood 

asked for staff clarification that Councilmember Price’s reference to stormwater 

management is actually the detention pond.  Mr. Townsend replied yes.  

Councilmember Orlans asked Mr. Davidson if he heard that as a condition of the 

zoning.  Mr. Davidson replied he heard that as a condition of the small tract status.  

Councilmember Orlans seconded the motion.

Page 18City of Roswell



December 12, 2011Mayor and City Council Meeting Minutes

Further Council Discussion:

Councilmember Dippolito said when looking at the criteria there are two items.  One 

is that “the tract of land cannot be feasibly be combined with abutting property to 

create a larger tract of land.”  Staff has said that is feasible. There were some 

discussions several years ago between the property owners but there has been little 

to no dialogue since then to try and make that happen.  He agreed with staff that it 

still is feasible for them to be combined.  There have been a lot of changes 

economically for everyone and the scenario is very different today than it was several 

years ago when this was originally looked at, and even then the properties can be 

physically combined.  He asked if the goal of Parkway Village to provide for larger 

tracts that have cohesive developments or is it to “chop it up” into small tracts.  He 

thought the goal of Parkway Village when it was originally done, is to have large 

tracts that protected the neighborhoods and provided adequate buffers.  This does 

exactly the opposite, it chops it up into a bunch of small tracts.  The small tract clause 

is in there for things such as some of the properties immediately to the west of this 

that are too small and too shallow, which cannot be combined, and have to be used 

for something else; that is not what this property is.  This is a large tract and it should 

fit into the large tract status of Parkway Village.  The second criteria is that 

“development of the tract as proposed will result in a better land use than if the small 

tract were combined with abutting property.”  Councilmember Dippolito said, 

“Ultimately, we can all look at this piece of property and say if there was a cohesive 

development across all four of these tracts and I am including the other remaining 

one that hasn’t even entered into the discussion here, we would have a much nicer 

development.  Something much nicer for Parkway Village, which really is the goal of 

this overlay in the first place.  I think on both counts it doesn’t meet that criteria and I 

don’t see how we can approve it.”

Councilmember Diamond stated it definitely has come a long way from the last time. 

The 150’ buffer is a huge concession.  She said, “If engineering wise, we are just 

borderline figuring it out, will it ever combine with the properties on either side.  Until 

we know engineering wise that can happen, it just makes me a little uncomfortable to 

put something out there that we are going to have to live with forever, and not be sure 

that it can be done.   Until I known how those pieces would work together I have a 

hard time eliminating the possibility.”

Councilmember Igleheart stated he had the same concerns.  He said, “One reason I 

asked about the previous records submitted was because I did not want to go 

through it all; we have said many of these same things over and over, and been to 

court over and over, and still here we are today.  It concerns me that we would 

consider approving something that has less information and less certainty of how that 

particular plan would work out.  There is no question that once you put something in 

that slot, you do eliminate anything else happening along the rest of that.  This was 

never meant to be immediate, granted the property owner I am sure would like to 

have it sooner than later, but as soon as we let that one go, the rest of it is gone.  It 

does become immediate at that point, but that is not the goal of what the Parkway 

Village was intended to do.”  He noted the small tract status which exists next to the 

subject property, was approved because it was more of an adaptive re-use.  It was a 

parking issue as to why it went through that way; it is still the same building; that 

building could be torn down and “do whatever you need to on a bigger property.”  

Councilmember Igleheart stated that with this plan, someone might possibly tear 

down and rebuild, but is not likely to happen.  Councilmember Igleheart stated, “You 

are again locking out what the intention is here.  I think clearly, neither one of the 

either-or, one or two, works here.  It really concerns me that a year and a half later, 

we are considering doing this all over again, when not that much has changed, I do 

appreciate the effort that has been made to make some of the changes, but ultimately 

Page 19City of Roswell



December 12, 2011Mayor and City Council Meeting Minutes

it would not make sense to continue.”

Councilmember Price said it was her understanding that if all three of these parcels 

were combined, it still would not be a large tract by definition; it would still be a small 

tract status.  She stated, “We are not creating a large tract, we are creating a larger 

tract, possibly, but it still doesn’t satisfy the basic requirements of a large tract status.  

According to the City’s Strategic Economic Development consultant, this type of 

development of this type of office structure is actually something we are short of in 

the City, would be desirable and an enhancement of the City.  Those two things also 

bear consideration.”

Councilmember Orlans stated the last time this came before Council, the main issues 

other than the feasibility of joining the properties, was the density involved and the 

fact that there was not the 150’ buffer in the rear.   He stated that it appears on the 

plan that the density has been cut in half for the three smaller office buildings and 

tried to set it up so that it could be expanded if there is a combination of parcels in the 

future.  It guarantees 150’ buffer which would have been there had a larger tract been 

put together.  Councilmember Orlans stated, “It comes back again to the question of 

feasibility of putting them together.  That is tough.  Councilmember Dippolito tried to 

get both applicants together the last time this came around.  So, the question comes 

back that I have asked before, is with the other improvements, how long do we hold 

any particular property owner, in forcing these combinations.  We have done it in the 

past for a particular period of time and then we moved on and done other things. That 

still is the main question.  Maybe the applicant was totally frustrated from the last 

round of questions; there hasn’t been any discussions on this particular site plan.  As 

the thought was thrown out before by Councilmember Price, perhaps we should defer 

this to give them a chance to discuss this site plan and the feasibility of putting 

together or even setting it up for future development across the other lots and  

confirm to the residents behind that this buffer is going to be in place at 150’.”  He 

suggested that a deferral for those two things to happen to at least bring it further 

along.  

Mayor Wood noted that there was a motion and a second, not to defer, but to 

approve.  

Mayor Wood said he agreed with Councilmember Orlans that the “real” issue is 

feasibility.  Mayor Wood said “Councilmember Price to go to your point, even if you 

are not able to assemble to make a seven acre tract, the goal is to try to do as much 

assemblage as possible to eliminate curb cuts and to try to have inter-parcel access; 

a better development with less problems on a larger size.  I think it comes back to the 

question of feasibility and that is a judgment call for this Council.” 

Councilmember Diamond suggested a deferral until there is more information 

regarding the engineering of this proposed site plan.  She said, “The way I 

understand it, the owner bought the property after Parkway Village was in place, 

knowing that he would need small tract status approval to do anything on this 

property.  I would like to see some evidence that there is a feasible plan that could 

work with all three or all four, down the road.  I would like that opportunity later, if that 

is agreeable.”

Mayor Wood replied, “As Mr. Caldwell has pointed out, under our current status, that 

opportunity is always available even if you deny this.”  The Mayor noted there was a 

motion and a second.  If the Council wished to defer, it would require another motion 

by a Councilmember.  He said that it was appropriate to make a decision tonight but 

a deferral would not be voted on unless that motion was made.”

Page 20City of Roswell



December 12, 2011Mayor and City Council Meeting Minutes

Motion for Deferral:  Councilmember Orlans moved to amend the motion for Deferral 

of PV11-03, Parkway Village Small Tract, 300 East Crossville, Land Lot 447, Kevin 

Attarha.  Councilmember Price seconded.  

Further Council Discussion:

Councilmember Price suggested that the applicant and the affected property owners 

have formal discussions to determine if there is any common ground to move 

forward.  Councilmember Price stated, “If not, I get the sense, in the near future, 

there may be movement on this otherwise.”  

Mayor Wood requested clarification of which Mayor and Council meeting this item 

would be deferred to; he suggested that it not be deferred beyond the next month.  

Councilmember Orlans suggested this item be deferred until the second Monday in 

February to allow plenty of time for this item to be worked out.  Councilmember Price 

confirmed her agreement to defer until February 13, 2012.  No further discussion.

A motion was made by Councilmember Orlans, seconded by Councilmember 

Price, for Deferral of PV11-03, Parkway Village Small Tract, 300 East Crossville, 

Land Lot 447, Kevin Attarha and be placed on the Mayor and City Council 

agenda for 2/13/2012. The motion carried  by the following vote:

In Favor: 5   

10. RZ11-11 Text Amendment to amend the sign ordinance 

regarding the "Find it all Roswell" campaign and the use of 

temporary signs.  (Second Reading) 

Presented by Bradford D. Townsend, Planning and Zoning 

Director

Planning and Zoning Director Bradford D. Townsend, stated this would be the second 

reading for the “Find It All Roswell” campaign, to include that program in the 2012 

calendar year.

City Attorney David Davidson conducted the second reading of an ORDINANCE TO 

AMEND THE CITY OF ROSWELL SIGN ORDINANCE REGARDING “FIND IT ALL 

IN ROSWELL” CAMPAIGN AND THE USE OF TEMPORARY SIGNS WITHIN THE 

CITY OF ROSWELL stating: pursuant to their authority, the Mayor and Council adopt 

the following ordinance:

                                                            1.

Article 22, of the City of Roswell Zoning Ordinance, Signs, Section 22.12 

Temporary Signs, is amended by changing the year from 2011 to 2012 in the 

following subsection 22.12 (a) (3):

Section 22.12  Temporary Signs

(3) For the period from September 15, 2009 through December 31, 2012, a business 

may receive an economic development permit for use of a temporary sign for an      

additional forty (40) days of advertising per year, cumulative to the 40 days granted in 

subsection (a) above and subject to the same requirements and limitations set out in 

(a) above.  This subsection (3) shall be automatically repealed on December 31, 

2012.

Mr. Davidson noted that if approved, this would be the second reading.

Page 21City of Roswell



December 12, 2011Mayor and City Council Meeting Minutes

Mayor Wood asked if there is any expense involved.  Planning and Zoning Director 

Brad Townsend replied there is no expense involved.  He confirmed for the Mayor 

that this proposed text amendment is to allow the continued banner signs for an 

additional 40 days for the “Find It All Roswell” campaign.  Mayor Wood suggested 

that a better way be found to hang these signs to prevent them from drooping.  The 

Mayor encouraged the Roswell Business Alliance to help with a better method for 

hanging these signs.

 No further discussion.

A motion was made by Councilmember Price, seconded by Councilmember 

Diamond, for approval of RZ11-11 Text Amendment to amend the sign 

ordinance regarding the "Find it all Roswell" campaign and the use of 

temporary signs on Second Reading. The motion carried  by the following 

vote:

In Favor: 5   

Public Safety -  Councilmember Nancy Diamond

11. Approval of Budget Amendment 3800-11-28-11 for the E911 

Center in the amount of $321,194.28.

Presented by Dwayne Orrick, Chief of Police

Dwayne Orrick, Chief of Police stated several months ago, a feasibility study was 

conducted regarding the ChattCom Communication Center assuming City of Roswell 

dispatch operations.  Chief Orrick stated after the ChattCom presented their 

proposal, Fire Department staff met with Administration to review the proposal and 

recommended against moving forward with consolidation.  Chief Orrick noted that as 

part of that study for this very specialized function, it was determined that the City of 

Roswell would need additional equipment; training issues were also identified.  Chief 

Orrick stated the goal is to ensure that the 911 Center training standards, 

accountability, and redundancy will be met.  Chief Orrick clarified the specifics for 

Mayor Wood and stated that the AT&T leased phone would be bought out for 

$21,000, resulting in a savings for the City of $51,000 per year; data connections will 

increase, as required by the state for GCIC checks; new radios will be purchased in 

the event that the “panel goes down”; funding of six-month salary for a training 

officer/quality control position within the 911 Center.  Chief Orrick said anticipated 

recurring costs are anticipated to be $76,484 per year.  If this item is approved, the 

remaining balance in the E-911 fund will be $1,334,045.  

Mayor Wood stated the E-911 Fund is funded from a user fee.  Chief Orrick 

confirmed that a fee is added to all cell and residential phones; unlike in most 

communities, that fee funds the complete operation of the Roswell E-911 Center.  He 

noted that in almost every other city and county that he has worked with, it is 

subsidized by the General Fund, which has never occurred at the City of Roswell.  

Chief Orrick noted that this past year the State Legislature passed legislation 

regarding how pre-paid phones are tracked.   In the past, millions of dollars, went to 

the State Legislature and put in the General Fund.  This past year, the Legislature 

changed that, so that now it will be separated out to local governments by population.  

Chief Orrick anticipates that approximately $100,000 extra coming to the City of 

Roswell.  He explained that in the past, the state restricted the use of those funds, 

but it will be opened up to anything related to receiving the call, dispatching the call, 

recording the information, including computers and radio equipment.  This will provide 

the City more money from the funds which had been going to the state and will allow 

us to expand our use of the funds, as well.  

Page 22City of Roswell



December 12, 2011Mayor and City Council Meeting Minutes

Mayor Wood clarified that the $321,194.28 is not coming from the general taxpayer, 

but rather from this special fee for this, which can only be used for E-911 and that we 

expect this to be a self-sustaining fund in the future.  Chief Orrick stated this is 

correct.   Public comment invited; no comments made.  There was no further Council 

discussion.

A motion was made by Councilmember Orlans, seconded by Councilmember 

Diamond, for Approval of Budget Amendment 3800-11-28-11 for the E911 

Center in the amount of $321,194.28.  The motion carried  by the following 

vote:

In Favor: 5   

Transportation Department - Councilmember Rich Dippolito

12. Approval of an Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) with 

Sandy Springs for the construction phase of SR9 Advanced 

Traffic Management System (ATMS) project, approval for the 

Mayor and/or City Administrator to sign a construction 

contract with Midasco LLC, in the amount of $3,479,524 and 

approval of Budget Amendment 4210CP-12-12-11 to 

establish the project account.

Presented by Steve Acenbrak, Director of Transportation

Councilmember Dippolito noted that this amount is shared between the City of 

Roswell, the City of Sandy Springs, and the City of Alpharetta.  This project is a joint 

effort between these cities and the GDOT.  Mayor Wood asked how much of the 

three million dollars is coming from Roswell taxpayers.  Director of Transportation 

Steve Acenbrak stated the City of Roswell’s share is $1,357,014, however, 100% of 

that is reimbursed by a federal grant so the actual cost is zero.  Mr. Acenbrak noted 

that is a cash flow issue to pay the invoices, but at the end of the day it will be $3.5 

million dollar project, for free.  Mayor Wood wished to clarify that the money flowing 

from the taxes collected by the City of Roswell is zero.  The Mayor noted that this is a 

great value for the City.  Mr. Acenbrak displayed a map showing the project area.  

The beginning of the project area is at Abernathy Road in the City of Sandy Springs, 

runs through the City of Roswell, through the City of Alpharetta, up to the Forsyth 

County line. All of those traffic signals will be synchronized.  Mr. Acenbrak explained 

that there are three elements to this project.  The installation of adaptive traffic control 

systems which means the controllers will “think” as the traffic flows ebb and flow, and 

adjust signal timings according; traffic monitoring cameras; the City will obtain traffic 

control equipment, to include traffic monitoring monitors at the E-911 center and at 

the Hembree Road Transportation Facility.

Motion:  Councilmember Dippolito moved for Approval of an Intergovernmental 

Agreement (IGA) with Sandy Springs for the construction phase of SR9 Advanced 

Traffic Management System (ATMS) project, approval for the Mayor and/or City 

Administrator to sign a construction contract with Midasco LLC, in the amount of 

$3,479,524 and approval of Budget Amendment 4210CP-12-12-11 to establish the 

project account,  Councilmember Diamond seconded.  Public comment invited; no 

comments made.  No further discussion.  The motion passed unanimously.

Page 23City of Roswell



December 12, 2011Mayor and City Council Meeting Minutes

Councilmember Orlans inquired how much longer it will be before the Holcomb 

Bridge Road and State Route 9 intersection is opened up.  Mr. Acenbrak explained 

that it should be opened up by the end of this month.  The contractor is wiring the 

fiber between the intersection of Holcomb Bridge Road and State Route 9 at 

Commerce Parkway.  Once all of the wiring and the controllers are talking to each 

other, then the signals will come out of the bags, as they are now.  The second left 

turn lane in the west bound direction will be opened and the project will be fully 

opened to traffic.  Councilmember Orlans asked if the only thing holding this up is the 

wiring for the signals and then the barrels will be gone.  Mr. Acenbrak stated yes.  

Councilmember Price inquired about the sidewalks between the intersection and 

Clara Drive.  Mr. Acenbrak asked if she was referring to the mid-town gap.  

Councilmember Price said that was correct.  Mr. Acenbrak replied he spoken to Mr. 

Weiss today.  Mr. Acenbrak said Transportation staff is in the process of putting the 

final offer together which includes an update of the appraisal of the property.  Mr. 

Acenbrak said, “Under his request, we did some speed studies on south bound State 

Route 9 to see if for instance, the intersection improvement had any bearing on the 

speeds.  It did not in a way that would allow us to go back to the GDOT and argue for 

a lower sight distance for Clara Drive. We believe that the wavier we have gotten for 

that project is about as low as GDOT is going to allow us to go.  Once we put 

together the impacts to the property at Scrubs Car Wash, the fair market value for 

that, and put an offer together, we will do that as quickly as we can.  We hopefully will 

reach closure and then we will get the rest of the sidewalk continued with the lighting 

and fill in that portion of the two projects.”

A motion was made by Councilmember Dippolito, seconded by 

Councilmember Diamond, for Approval of an Intergovernmental Agreement 

(IGA) with Sandy Springs for the construction phase of SR9 Advanced Traffic 

Management System (ATMS) project, approval for the Mayor and/or City 

Administrator to sign a construction contract with Midasco LLC, in the amount 

of $3,479,524 and approval of Budget Amendment 4210CP-12-12-11 to 

establish the project account.  The motion carried  by the following vote:

In Favor: 5   

13. Approval for Mayor and/or City Administrator to sign a 

contract with Johnson Landscaped for the SR9 at SR120 

Intersection Improvements project and the MARTA 

Sidewalks Batch 2B project in the amount of $421,799.82 and 

approval of Budget Amendment BA4210CP-12-12-11B in the 

amount of $45,000.

Presented by Steve Acenbrak, Director of Transportation

Director of Transportation Steve Acenbrak stated this is the combination of two 

projects.  It is an intersection improvement at State Route 9 and Highway 120, at 

Roswell Town Square, and also a MARTA sidewalk project around Barrington Hall 

and the adjacent area.  Those projects were bid out as two projects.  The lowest 

responsive bidder was Johnson Landscapes for the alternative of the mortar bedding.  

That will allow the City to award one contract for two of those projects.  Mr. Acenbrak 

displayed a graphic showing a brief summary of the intersection improvements at the 

square and Barrington Hall.  He said the core impetus behind this project was the fact 

that trucks going south bound on State Route 9 and turning west bound on Highway 

120 did not have sufficient turning radius because of the raised concrete island.  The 

concrete island will be realigned and repositioned for safe pedestrian movement and 

Page 24City of Roswell



December 12, 2011Mayor and City Council Meeting Minutes

the thru traffic movement by incorporating an innovative raised mountable truck 

apron in order to protect the wall at the square.  All the crosswalks will be re-done.  A 

fourth crosswalk will be added across the south bound lane.  Decorative mast arms 

will be installed.  The pecan tree will be saved.  The area will be repaved.  These 

improvements will be combined with a healthy sidewalk connectivity improvement 

along two sides of Barrington Hall and Mill Street.  The sidewalks will continue down 

State Route 120 to Bulloch Hall with bulb-outs to improve pedestrian connectivity 

across Mimosa Street and add eight parallel parking spaces.  

Councilmember Price inquired about the pecan tree.  Mr. Acenbrak stated a 

landscape firm will be hired to address the process of saving the pecan tree.  Tree 

maintenance will be done to help the tree accommodate and live through the 

construction in that area; the roots will be aerated, pruned, and fertilized.  

Councilmember Price asked what percentage of the critical root zone will be 

impacted.  Mr. Acenbrak stated he thought perhaps twenty percent would be 

impacted; he was not certain of the percentage but it would be the area where the 

truck wheels are running over the ground and is only on one quadrant.  

Councilmember Price asked if this method of enhancing the survivability of the tree is 

something other applicants might consider.  Mr. Acenbrak noted that as 

transportation engineers, they did not previously understand this process, but they 

are learning to understand how trees adapt to the built environment.  Mr. Acenbrak 

assured Council that the Transportation department is being proactive as opposed to 

reactive and it so far been met with success.

Councilmember Dippolito stated this project will go a long way to enhancing 

pedestrian connectivity in the Historic square area.  He expressed appreciation for 

everyone’s perseverance.

Public comment invited; no comments made.  No further discussion.

Councilmember Dippolito noted that it has been a pleasure working as Transportation 

Department Council liaison over the past two years.  He stated the Transportation 

Department is extremely fortunate to have Mr. Acenbrak at the helm and that the 

Transportation staff works extremely hard and is incredibly creative, as evidenced by 

the projects brought forward the past few years.  Mr. Acenbrak stated his 

Transportation staff truly works together as a team. He said it has been an honor 

serving with Councilmember Dippolito and expressed appreciation for 

Councilmember Dippolito’s support, and wished him the best of luck in his future 

assignments.

A motion was made by Councilmember Dippolito, seconded by 

Councilmember Igleheart, for Approval for Mayor and/or City Administrator to 

sign a contract with Johnson Landscaped for the SR9 at SR120 Intersection 

Improvements project and the MARTA Sidewalks Batch 2B project in the 

amount of $421,799.82 and approval of Budget Amendment 

BA4210CP-12-12-11B in the amount of $45,000.  The motion carried  by the 

following vote:

In Favor: 5   

City Attorney's Report

14. Recommendation for closure to discuss acquisition of real 

estate. 

A motion was made by Councilmember Diamond, seconded by Councilmember 

Page 25City of Roswell



December 12, 2011Mayor and City Council Meeting Minutes

Price, for approval for closure to discuss acquisition of real estate.  The motion 

carried  by the following vote:

In Favor: 5   

Page 26City of Roswell



December 12, 2011Mayor and City Council Meeting Minutes

The following item was called out of agenda order.

ADDENDUM TO AGENDA

Community Development - Councilmember Betty Price

Approval of the Downtown Development Authority (DDA) 

Appointment Policy.

Councilmember Price introduced the item.  City Administrator Kay Love stated this 

item was discussed at the November 30, 2011 Committee Development and 

Transportation Committee meeting.  At that meeting, it was decided that there 

needed to be a policy regarding how the appointments to the DDA would be made.  

Ms. Love stated that is spelled out in the policy provided to Council.  It states that the 

Mayor and each Council member would submit a list of seven (7) qualified DDA 

candidate names to the City Administrator or his/her designee.  A final list of the 

nominations will be complied and provided to the Mayor and Council.  Then, in 

closure, one elected official will be randomly selected to begin a round of nominating 

from the list of nominees.  The process will be repeated until seven nominees with 

the highest ratings are identified.   Those seven names will be brought forward to the 

next regularly scheduled Mayor and Council meeting for a vote for appointment to the 

DDA.  Ms. Love stated that previous to that meeting, there had been discussions and 

decision upon a reappointment or a filling process that would be followed when either 

a term expires or a vacancy occurs on the DDA, for whatever reason.  A DDA 

position which would be identified to a Council post would be refilled or replaced by a 

nomination from the Council post member to the Mayor and Council in closure for 

discussion and deliberation.  A vote would come forward to the next regularly 

scheduled Mayor and Council meeting for that appointment.

Council Questions:

Councilmember Dippolito referred to point number three in the policy regarding the 

process being repeated, asked if the elected official who is nominating just continue 

to nominate until one of their nominees is selected so that each elected official has 

one nomination.  Ms. Love stated that was her understanding from the discussion.  

She noted that she listened to the audio four times to confirm.  Councilmember 

Dippolito replied that he supported that but wanted to clarify that is what that 

paragraph in the policy said.  Ms. Love stated that is her understanding.  She noted 

that the Mayor could address this, but she assumed that the process would be 

randomly started.  Once randomly started, she assumed that numbers or names 

would be “drawn out of a hat.”  Mayor Wood replied that he would let Ms. Love select 

the random process.  Mayor Wood stated the “lucky” first person would continue with 

his nominations until he received approval of one and then the process would turn to 

the second elected official.  Ms. Love agreed.  Mayor Wood stated that 

Councilmember Dippolito was correct.  

Councilmember Igleheart stated he also had the same question Councilmember 

Dippolito had.  Councilmember Igleheart suggested that if this is to be passed as a 

written policy, it should have a sentence included that it is based on what Council 

decided.  He noted that he was concerned about setting up a hard and fast policy 

before we have gone into something we have never done before.  Mayor Wood 

replied staff will tweak it to make that clarification.

Page 27City of Roswell



December 12, 2011Mayor and City Council Meeting Minutes

Councilmember Price referred to the third bullet point of the policy and asked if that is 

from the pared down list.  Ms. Love replied, “That would be from the list of the seven 

names submitted by each of the seven elected officials.”  Councilmember Price 

stated it was her concern, and it is not known what each other has submitted, if 

among that final list, there is gap in the skill set or a talent.  She asked if it would be 

possible to go back to the original list if Council agreed.  Mayor Wood replied that if 

there was a majority support for an additional name to the list after this submission 

that would be sufficient.  Councilmember Price replied if that is agreeable, that would 

be fine with her.  Mayor Wood directed City Administrator Kay Love to add that to the 

policy.  Ms. Love confirmed that she would add do so.

No further discussion.

A motion was made by Councilmember Price, seconded by Councilmember 

Orlans, for Approval of the Downtown Development Authority (DDA) 

Appointment Policy.  Mayor Wood noted that Councilmember Wynn is absent 

tonight so there would not be a full discussion in Closure tonight regarding 

this item.  The motion carried  by the following vote:

In Favor: 5   

Adjournment

After no further business, the Mayor and Council meeting adjourned at 9:33 p.m.

Page 28City of Roswell


